



Cronfa - Swansea University Open Access Repository

This is an author produced version of a paper published in: Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics

Cronfa URL for this paper: http://cronfa.swan.ac.uk/Record/cronfa43533

Paper:

Dimastrogiovanni, E., Fasiello, M. & Tasinato, G. (2018). Probing the inflationary particle content: extra spin-2 field. *Journal of Cosmology and Astroparticle Physics, 2018*(08), 016-016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2018/08/016

12 month embargo.

This item is brought to you by Swansea University. Any person downloading material is agreeing to abide by the terms of the repository licence. Copies of full text items may be used or reproduced in any format or medium, without prior permission for personal research or study, educational or non-commercial purposes only. The copyright for any work remains with the original author unless otherwise specified. The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder.

Permission for multiple reproductions should be obtained from the original author.

Authors are personally responsible for adhering to copyright and publisher restrictions when uploading content to the repository.

http://www.swansea.ac.uk/library/researchsupport/ris-support/

Probing the inflationary particle content: extra spin-2 field

Emanuela Dimastrogiovanni^{*a,b*}, Matteo Fasiello^{*c,d*}, Gianmassimo Tasinato^{*e*}

^a CERCA and Department of Physics, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, 44106, U.S.A.

^b Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics, 31 Caroline Street North, Waterloo, N2L 2Y5, Canada.

^c Institute of Cosmology and Gravitation, University of Portsmouth, Portsmouth, PO1 3FX, UK.

^d Department of Physics, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, 94306, U.S.A.

^e Department of Physics, Swansea University, Swansea, SA2 8PP, United Kingdom

Abstract. We study how inflationary observables associated with primordial tensor modes are affected by coupling the minimal field content with an extra spin-2 particle during inflation. We work with a model that is ghost-free at the fully non-linear level and show how the new degrees of freedom modify standard consistency relations for the tensor bispectrum. The extra interacting spin-2 field is necessarily massive and unitarity dictates its mass be in the $m \gtrsim H$ range. Despite the fact that this bound selects a decaying solution for the corresponding tensor mode, cosmological correlators still carry the imprints of such *fossil* fields. Remarkably, fossil(s) of spin ≥ 1 generate distinctive anisotropies in observables such as the tensor power spectrum. We show how this plays out in our set-up.

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	The model	3
	2.1 The structure of the interactions	6
3	Observables in the tensor sector	7
	3.1 Power spectrum	8
	3.2 Bispectrum	10
4	Tensor Consistency Relation	12
	4.1 The standard case	12
	4.2 General Perspective on Consistency Relations	14
	4.3 Extra massive spin-2 field during inflation	16
	4.4 Quadrupolar tensor anisotropy	16
5	Conclusions	18
A	Quartic Lagrangian expansion	19
в	Polarization tensors	19
С	Details of in in calculation	20

1 Introduction

Cosmological inflation predicts the existence of a yet-unobserved stochastic background of primordial tensor modes, whose detection represents one of the main challenges for future observational cosmology (see e.g. [1–3] for recent reviews). According to the simplest realizations of inflation, the primordial gravitational waves background is nearly scale invariant and almost Gaussian, with CMB polarization measurements being potentially one of its most sensitive probe. Nevertheless, in several scenarios, well-motivated by particle physics, there arise the possibility that primordial gravitational waves (GW) can be detected at interferometer scales [4]. Given that primordial GW represent an additional window on the dynamics of inflation, and can offer important clues on its ultraviolet completion, it is essential to explore all possibilities in view of a future detection [5].

Besides the GW signal due to standard vacuum fluctuations, there exist several different mechanisms that can source primordial tensor waves. One possibility stems from specific couplings (typically non-minimal) of the inflaton with additional fields (from scalars to vectors, all the way to higher spin fields, see e.g. [6]). Such models often lead to (controlled) instabilities and particle production affecting the tensor sector both at CMB and interferometer scales. Alternatively, the primordial tensor statistics can be modified by breaking space-time symmetries during inflation, either spontaneously as in (super)-solid inflation [7], or directly as in Hořava-Lifshitz-motivated

inflationary systems (see e.g. [8]).

In addition to the power spectrum, its spectral index, and possible chiral properties, an excellent probe of extra dynamics during inflation is the squeezed (soft) configuration of the bispectrum. Indeed this observable is sensitive to the mass, the spin and the coupling of any additional particle content. For example, the effect of an extra light scalar on the predictions of minimal single-field slow-roll (SFSR) inflation is to enhance the bispectrum in the squeezed limit. From this property stems the well-known identification of a $f_{nl}^{loc} \gtrsim 1$ detection as a "smoking gun" for multi-field inflation [9]. Crucially, the information potentially stored in the bispectrum extends much further than that. Indeed, as one considers extra particle content of increasing spin, the corresponding bispectrum acquires a non-trivial angular dependence. At the same time, the bispectrum scaling with respect to soft (hard) momenta reveals information on the extra particle(s) mass. This latter property is rather remarkable: even if the field content beyond SFSR is massive to the level $m_{\text{extra}} \sim H$, and therefore short-lived, its imprints are fossilised [10] in the bispectrum and remain accessible today. This is especially important in view of the fact that the existence of irreducible unitary representation of the spacetime isometries group strongly constraints the parameter space of theories with extra spin ≥ 2 fields.

In this work we extend the minimal inflationary scenario by coupling it with an extra spin-2 field [11–13] and focus on the consequences for the tensor sector. This particle content, comprising an additional tensor with a mass range of order the Hubble parameter, is reminiscent of a well-studied scenario known as quasi-single field inflation (QsF) [14, 15], where the additional field is a massive $m_{\sigma} \sim H$ scalar. In this sense, our set-up can be thought of as the tensor sector counterpart of QsF. We refer the reader to the literature [16, 17] (see also [18]) for related studies of (extra) higher spin fields populating inflation. In choosing the extra field to be a spin-2 particle, one can rely on an extensive body of work [19] (see in particular [20–23] for use in the inflationary context and e.g. [24] for work in the direction of a dark matter component) spanning also models of the late-time universe. As we shall see, any (interacting) addition to the tensor sector of general relativity is necessarily massive. We plan to make use of a fully-non-linear ghost-free couplings between the tensor sectors known as dRGT interactions [12]. In doing so, we will exploit some of the model most desirable properties:

- The structure of the theory is engineered to guarantee the absence of Ostrogradsky instabilities. In fact, the model of [13] is the only known example of multi-metric theory consistent at the fully non-linear level, and precisely dictates the coupling between massive and massless tensor fluctuations¹.
- The strong coupling scale (and therefore also the UV cut-off) of the theory is naturally much larger (see Section 2.1) than our working energy, set by the Hubble parameter H. This, together with the fact that the model is automatically ghost-free at fully non-linear level, implies that one can explore a regime in parameter space that cannot be otherwise probed using a fully general EFT approach².

¹Strictly speaking, the tensor mass eigenstates in the theory are time-dependent.

²In other words, there exists a subset of operators/non-linear interactions, w.r.t. those that would appear in a broader EFT treatment, that can be as important as the linear theory at a specific scale Λ without necessarily exciting any ghostly degree of freedom.

• Adding a massive spin-2 to the minimal inflationary scenario comes with an extra five degrees of freedom: two tensors, two vectors and a scalar. When the non-linearities in the dRGT interactions become important, the effective coupling to matter (including the inflaton) of the extra vectors/scalar is strongly suppressed: this is what is known as the Vainshtein screening mechanism at work [25]. On the other hand, screening does not affect the extra tensor sector, precisely the one we shall focus on in this work. The key observable will be the tensor three-point function, the smallest *n*-point function to directly probe non-Gaussianities in the theory and imprints of extra modes therein. We will study the contributions to the bispectrum due to the new *non-derivative* dRGT interactions and show how these modify the standard tensor consistency condition in play for SFSR inflation.

Non-derivative interactions tend to enhance the so-called *local* contributions to the bispectrum or lead to intermediate (i.e. interpolating between different configurations) shapes for non-Gaussianities. This is well-studied for the scalar sector (see e.g. the review in [26]), and is also expected to hold for the tensor sector. Our results provide a theoretical and phenomenological characterization of tensor non-Gaussianities beyond SFSR that is essential in view of future experimental probes [27].

This paper is organized as follows: in *Section* 2 we introduce our non-minimal inflationary scenario and study the dynamics of tensor fluctuations around de Sitter space (a proxy for inflation) up to fourth order in perturbations. We examine the bounds on fields mass range that stem from requiring this to be a consistent set-up; in *Section* 3 we analyse how the presence of new tensor modes affects cosmological correlators, and the consequences for tensor non-Gaussianity; *Section* 4 is devoted to more general considerations on tensor consistency relations in light of our findings, and on observational prospects for the bispectrum resulting from modifications/violations of consistency relations; we conclude in *Section* 5, whilst technical details of the calculations can be found in the *Appendices*.

2 The model

Our set-up consists of (i) the standard action ³ for the inflaton field in single field slow-roll inflation (SFSR)

$$S_{\phi} = \int d^4x \sqrt{-g} \left[-\frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \phi)^2 - V(\phi) \right] \,, \tag{2.1}$$

where the inflaton ϕ (and, in general, any matter content) is minimally coupled to gravity, described by the metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. We further consider (ii) an additional spin-2 field, making use of the fact that the only known system consistently coupling two spin-2 tensor modes, here called $g_{\mu\nu}$ and $f_{\mu\nu}$, is described by the action of [13]:

$$S = \int d^4x \left[\sqrt{-g} \, M_p^2 \, R[g] + \sqrt{-f} \, M_f^2 \, R[f] - \sqrt{-g} \, m^2 M^2 \sum_{n=0}^4 \beta_n \, \mathcal{E}_n \left(\sqrt{g^{-1} f} \right) \right] \,, \tag{2.2}$$

³Although for simplicity we discuss a minimal single field inflationary scenario, most of the arguments we develop here also apply to richer systems including additional scalar (and vector) fields.

where the combinations $\mathcal{E}_n(\mathbb{X})$ (with \mathbb{X} an arbitrary matrix) are defined as

$$\mathcal{E}_{0}(\mathbb{X}) = 1, \quad \mathcal{E}_{1}(\mathbb{X}) = \operatorname{Tr}(\mathbb{X}) \equiv [\mathbb{X}], \quad \mathcal{E}_{2}(\mathbb{X}) = \frac{1}{2} \left([\mathbb{X}]^{2} - [\mathbb{X}^{2}] \right),$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{3}(\mathbb{X}) = \frac{1}{3!} \left([\mathbb{X}]^{3} - 3[\mathbb{X}^{2}][\mathbb{X}] + 2[\mathbb{X}^{3}] \right),$$

$$\mathcal{E}_{4}(\mathbb{X}) = \frac{1}{4!} \left([\mathbb{X}]^{4} - 6[\mathbb{X}^{2}][\mathbb{X}]^{2} + 8[\mathbb{X}^{3}][\mathbb{X}] + 3[\mathbb{X}^{2}]^{2} - 6[\mathbb{X}^{4}] \right).$$
(2.3)

The action (2.2) contains the Einstein-Hilbert terms for the metrics f and g (with M_f and M_p denoting the corresponding Planck masses), a potential term controlled by the parameter m parameterizing the mass in the tensor sector, and five dimensionless constant parameters β_i . For convenience – as well as to keep the $f \leftrightarrow g$ identification⁴ of [13] manifest – we use the parameter M defined as

$$M^2 = \frac{M_p^2 M_f^2}{M_p^2 + M_f^2}.$$
 (2.4)

As a proxy for inflation, we consider de Sitter solutions for both background metrics f, g. The corresponding background equations of motion (eom) are

$$3 H^2 M_p^2 = m^2 M^2 \left(\frac{1}{2} \beta_0 + \frac{3}{2} \beta_1 + \frac{3}{2} \beta_2 + \frac{1}{2} \beta_3 \right)$$

$$3 H^2 M_f^2 = m^2 M^2 \left(\frac{1}{2} \beta_1 + \frac{3}{2} \beta_2 + \frac{3}{2} \beta_3 + \frac{1}{2} \beta_4 \right) .$$
(2.5)

Note that in Eq.(2.5) is implicit the choice of the healthy branch [19] of solutions $(H_g/H_f = b/a)$ and we have in particular considered the case $H_g = H_f = H$. We write the metric fluctuations as

$$g_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} = -dt^2 + a^2(t) \left[\delta_{ij} + g_{ij}(t, \vec{x}) \right] dx^i dx^j$$
(2.6)

$$f_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} = -dt^2 + a^2(t) \left[\delta_{ij} + f_{ij}(t, \vec{x})\right] dx^i dx^j$$
(2.7)

As anticipated, we will focus our analysis on the tensor sector and in particular on the traceless transverse components of the metrics f, g. Although we shall not consider them directly, we nevertheless ought to ensure that we explore a region in parameter space for the theory where unitarity is preserved also in the helicity-0 and helicity-1 sector. To this aim, we will enforce on the parameters m and β_i the *Higuchi* bound of Section 2.1. In order to extract the observables of interest here, namely the tensor power spectrum and bispectrum up to one-loop order, it will be necessary to expand the action up to fourth order in perturbations. The new physics w.r.t. SFSR is in the non-derivative interactions making up the action that we schematically write as:

$$S_{int} = \int dt \, d^3x \, a^3(t) \, \left[\mathcal{L}_2 + \mathcal{L}_3 + \mathcal{L}_4 \right] \,. \tag{2.8}$$

The Lagrangian densities at each order read

⁴Before coupling to matter, the action is invariant under the simultaneous exchange $M_p \leftrightarrow M_f$; $g \leftrightarrow f$; $\beta_n \leftrightarrow \beta_{4-n}$.

$$\mathcal{L}_{2} = -\frac{m^{2} M^{2}}{8} \left(\beta_{1} + 2\beta_{2} + \beta_{3}\right) \operatorname{Tr}\left[(f - g)^{2}\right] , \qquad (2.9)$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{3} = \frac{m^{2} M^{2}}{48} \left[\left(7\beta_{1} + 12\beta_{2} + 5\beta_{3}\right) \operatorname{Tr}\left[g^{3}\right] - 3\left(\beta_{1} + 4\beta_{2} + 3\beta_{3}\right) \operatorname{Tr}\left[gf^{2}\right] -3\left(3\beta_{1} + 4\beta_{2} + \beta_{3}\right) \operatorname{Tr}\left[g^{2}f\right] + \left(5\beta_{1} + 12\beta_{2} + 7\beta_{3}\right) \operatorname{Tr}\left[f^{3}\right] \right] , \qquad (2.10)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{4} = -\frac{m^{2} M^{2}}{128} \left(\beta_{1} + 2\beta_{2} + \beta_{3}\right) \left[3 \operatorname{Tr} \left[g^{4}\right] - 4 \operatorname{Tr} \left[g^{3} f\right] + 18 \operatorname{Tr} \left[g^{2} f^{2}\right] - 4 \operatorname{Tr} \left[g f^{3}\right] + 3 \operatorname{Tr} \left[f^{4}\right] - 8 \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left[f g\right]\right)^{2}\right],$$
(2.11)

where Tr $[f] = \text{Tr} [f_{\mu\nu}]$ etc. Notice that the new interactions described by the potential term in Eq. (2.2) and in Eqs. (2.9)-(2.11) do not contain any derivatives. Indeed, there cannot be derivative couplings among spin-2 fields that are consistent at the fully non-linear level [28]. Such couplings are of course still allowed in the purely EFT sense of e.g. [18]. Despite the compact expression for each \mathcal{L}_n , the (f,g) basis mixes the two metrics already at second order, as in

$$M_p^2 \mathcal{L}_{kin}(g) + M_f^2 \mathcal{L}_{kin}(f) - \frac{1}{8} m^2 M^2 \left(\beta_1 + 2\beta_2 + \beta_3\right) \left(g_{ij} - f_{ij}\right)^2, \qquad (2.12)$$

with \mathcal{L}_{kin} indicating the standard quadratic kinetic terms for the tensors. It is convenient to use an alternative basis that decouples the fields in \mathcal{L}_2 . In order to do so, one may first canonically normalize the spin-2 kinetic terms, rescaling fields according to

$$g_{ij} \to \tilde{g}_{ij} \equiv g_{ij} M_p \tag{2.13}$$

$$f_{ij} \to f_{ij} \equiv f_{ij} M_f , \qquad (2.14)$$

and then considering a rotation in field space so as to diagonalize the potential:

$$\tilde{g}_{ij} = \cos\alpha \,\sigma_{ij} + \sin\alpha \,\gamma_{ij} \tag{2.15}$$

$$\tilde{f}_{ij} = -\sin\alpha \,\sigma_{ij} + \cos\alpha \,\gamma_{ij} \,, \tag{2.16}$$

with

$$\alpha = \arccos\left[\frac{M_f}{\sqrt{M_p^2 + M_f^2}}\right] \,. \tag{2.17}$$

The quadratic Lagrangian in the new basis reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{kin}(\sigma) + \mathcal{L}_{kin}(\gamma) - \frac{1}{8}m^2 \,\tilde{\beta} \,\sigma^2 \,, \qquad (2.18)$$

with $\tilde{\beta}$ given by the combination:

$$\tilde{\beta} \equiv (\beta_1 + 2\beta_2 + \beta_3) . \tag{2.19}$$

Interactions between the massless field γ_{ij} and the massive σ_{ij} particle start now at third order, and are regulated by the following cubic Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{3} = \frac{m^{2}M\tilde{\beta}}{4M_{f}M_{p}}\sigma^{2}\gamma + \frac{m^{2}M}{48M_{f}^{2}M_{p}^{2}} \Big[(7\beta_{1} + 12\beta_{2} + 5\beta_{3})M_{f}^{2} - (5\beta_{1} + 12\beta_{2} + 7\beta_{3})M_{p}^{2} \Big]\sigma^{3} . \quad (2.20)$$

The corresponding expression for the quartic non-derivative interactions is more lengthy and can be found in Eq.(A.1) of Appendix A. It is sufficient at this stage to point out that all its terms are proportional to a unique combination of the parameters β_i corresponding to $\tilde{\beta}$ as per Eq. (2.19).

2.1 The structure of the interactions

At quadratic level we identified a basis where massless and massive tensor modes propagate independently, the mass being proportional a linear combination of the β_n coefficients we call $\tilde{\beta}$, see Eq. (2.19). At cubic and quartic order interactions among the two fields γ, σ are controlled by $\tilde{\beta}$ and there are no new self-interactions for the massless mode γ besides the ones already present in GR. These features can be understood quite generally within the context of the theorem in [29]: it states that, in the limit in which the massive field σ becomes massless (that is, $\tilde{\beta} \to 0$), interactions among the two massless fields must vanish. As we shall see, an implication of this result for our set-up is that the new contributions to the power spectrum and bispectrum appear starting with loop diagrams, and, at leading order, depend on the dimensionless parameter $\tilde{\beta}$.

Bounds on the parameters space

We provide here a brief discussion on the bounds that limit our analysis to a specific region of the parameter space of the theory. First, we recall [30] that the notion of particles is best defined by unitary irreducible representation of (in our case) the de Sitter isometry group. These identify, for massive⁵ spin-2 fields, the condition [32, 33]:

$$\frac{m^2 M^2}{H^2 M_p^2} \tilde{\beta} \left(1 + \frac{M_p^2}{M_f^2} \right) = \left. \frac{m^2 \, \tilde{\beta}}{H^2} \ge 4 \right|_{\text{Higuchi}},\tag{2.21}$$

where have used the definition in Eq. (2.4) for M. This condition reduces to the well-know Higuchi [34] bound $m^2 \ge 2H^2$ in the linear massive gravity limit $(M_f \to \infty; \tilde{\beta} \to 1/2)$. We note in passing that the unitarity bound on the mass of the (extra) tensor mode confines us to the same $m \gtrsim H$ playground that defines the parameter space of the extra scalar mode in QsF inflation.

The origin of the next bound is rather different, and the corresponding inequality may in principle be relaxed depending on the set-up under consideration. In obtaining the solution for the σ wavefunction in Eq. (3.8), we assume a real-valued $\tilde{\nu}$. Were we to allow, as it is certainly possible⁶, an imaginary-valued $\tilde{\nu}$, one typically expects a Boltzmann $e^{-m/H}$ suppression in correlation functions due to the presence of very massive modes (see [15] for a detailed discussion on this

⁵ There is a discrete set of allowed values for the mass to which corresponds, at least linearly, an enhanced symmetry in the theory and therefore less propagating degrees of freedom (four). This is known as a *partially massless* system [31]. However, a consistent non-linear theory of partially massless gravity, if it exists, has yet to be found.

⁶See for example [18], according to whose nomenclature our analysis is on the mass values (those corresponding to $\tilde{\nu} \in \text{Reals}$) belonging to the complementary series, and an imaginary $\tilde{\nu}$ corresponds to the principal series.

point). Written along the lines of Eq. (2.21), a real-valued $\tilde{\nu}$ corresponds to

$$\frac{m^2 M^2}{H^2 M_p^2} \tilde{\beta} \left(1 + \frac{M_p^2}{M_f^2} \right) = \left. \frac{m^2 \, \tilde{\beta}}{H^2} \le \left. \frac{9}{2} \right|_{\text{EOM}} \,.$$
(2.22)

In what follows we will be assuming both inequalities (2.21) and (2.22), and consider a mass range

$$4 \le \frac{m^2 \tilde{\beta}}{H^2} \le \frac{9}{2}$$
, (2.23)

although, as mentioned above, the upper bound is not strictly necessary and may be relaxed.

Strong coupling scale

In order to expound on the strong coupling scale of the model under scrutiny, we need to make contact with the non-linear massive gravity theory of [12]. In such context, the so-called *naive* strong coupling scale is $\Lambda_3 \equiv (m^2 M_p)^{1/3}$. We note that it emerges most clearly in a specific scaling limit of the theory known as decoupling limit (DL). The DL analysis shows how the smallest strong coupling scale has to do with the helicity-0 mode interactions. Indeed, for purely tensor modes one would expect that scale to be M_p , just as is the case for general relativity.

On non-trivial backgrounds the non-linearities in the massive theory actually re-dress the effective strong coupling scale, always in the direction of making it larger, $\Lambda_* \sim \sqrt{Z} \Lambda_3$, where Z measures the non-linear terms contributions to the standard kinetic term for the helicity-0 mode. In Eq. (2.2) both metrics g, f are dynamical and, as a result, the naive strong coupling scale becomes $\Lambda = \text{Min}\{\Lambda_g, \Lambda_f\}$ with $\Lambda_{g,f} = (m^2 M_{g,f})^{1/3}$. Given the bounds on m we discuss in the previous section and the fact that we assume $M_{g,f} \gg H$, one may conclude we are safely away even from what is only the naive strong coupling scale in our set-up. It is worth pointing out that it would be hard to put together a scale H compatible with inflation, such as the one we require here, with the use of a massive graviton as a mechanism for late-time acceleration. We make no such attempt here, and view our Eqs. (2.1)-(2.2) as simply describing the (healthy) field content of a minimal inflation model enriched by a spin-2 particle.

3 Observables in the tensor sector

We first quantize tensor fluctuations around de Sitter space and then investigate the properties of the power spectrum and bispectrum. Employing the (γ, σ) basis the massless and massive tensor modes are decomposed in Fourier space as

$$\hat{h}_{ij}(\mathbf{x},\tau) = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \sum_{\lambda} \epsilon^{\lambda}_{ij}(\hat{k}) \hat{h}^{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\tau) , \qquad (3.1)$$

$$\hat{\sigma}_{ij}(\mathbf{x},\tau) = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \sum_{\lambda} \epsilon^{\lambda}_{ij}(\hat{k})\hat{\sigma}^{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\tau), \qquad (3.2)$$

where the polarization tensors defined in Appendix B. The operators \hat{h}^{λ} , $\hat{\sigma}^{\lambda}$ are written in terms of standard creation/annihilation operators, satisfying the standard commutation relations, and the

mode functions as in

$$\hat{\gamma}^{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\tau) = a_{\mathbf{k}}^{\lambda}\gamma(k,\tau) + a_{-\mathbf{k}}^{\lambda\dagger}\gamma^{*}(k,\tau), \qquad (3.3)$$

$$\hat{\sigma}^{\lambda}(\mathbf{k},\tau) = b^{\lambda}_{\mathbf{k}}\,\sigma(k,\tau) + b^{\lambda\dagger}_{-\mathbf{k}}\,\sigma^{*}(k,\tau)\,. \tag{3.4}$$

The evolution equations in de Sitter(dS) space are

$$\gamma'' - \frac{2}{\tau}\gamma' + k^2\gamma = 0, \qquad (3.5)$$

$$\sigma'' - \frac{2}{\tau}\sigma' + k^2\sigma + \frac{\hat{\beta}\,m^2}{2\,\tau^2 H^2}\sigma = 0\,, \qquad (3.6)$$

where ' denotes derivatives w.r.t. conformal time, and the solutions for the mode functions read

$$\gamma(k,\tau) = \sqrt{2} H \frac{(i-k\tau) e^{-ik\tau}}{k^{3/2}}, \qquad (3.7)$$

$$\sigma(\tau,k) = H(1+i)\sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2}}(-\tau)^{3/2} e^{\frac{i\pi}{4}\tilde{\nu}} \mathcal{H}^{(1)}_{\tilde{\nu}/2}[-k\tau] , \qquad (3.8)$$

with $\mathcal{H}^{(1)}_{\alpha}[x]$ the Hankel function of the first kind, and

$$\tilde{\nu} \equiv \sqrt{9 - \frac{2\tilde{\beta}\,m^2}{H^2}}\,.\tag{3.9}$$

In deriving solutions (3.7), (3.8) one assumes standard Bunch-Davies conditions for the vacuum. We now move on to observables, starting with the power spectrum.

3.1 Power spectrum

The power spectrum of each polarization of the tensor perturbations is formally given by

$$\langle g_{\vec{k}}g_{\vec{k}'}\rangle \equiv (2\pi)^3 \,\delta^{(3)}(\vec{k}+\vec{k}')\frac{2\pi^2}{k^3}\mathcal{P}(k)\,.$$
 (3.10)

Note that we are after the power spectrum of the field g_{ij} because it is the one metric that couples to matter. We shall, in the following calculations, express g in the (γ, σ) basis for convenience, but we will always have in mind $\langle gg \rangle$ and $\langle ggg \rangle$ as the end products of our analysis on the observables. Using Eq. (3.7), one finds the leading power spectrum to be

$$\mathcal{P}^{\text{tree}} = \frac{4}{M_f^2 + M_p^2} \left(\frac{H}{2\pi}\right)^2.$$
(3.11)

It follows that at tree level the power spectrum for g has the same structure as in the minimal inflationary scenario⁷. In order to be sensitive to the new interactions, and in the absence of extra non-derivative purely-massless terms, we need the observable at hand to probe massive fields and

⁷The field g has both a massless and a massive component but only the former survives the late time limit at tree level.

that necessarily requires we move to loop order. The possible one loop contributions to the power spectrum are represented in Fig. (1).



Figure 1. Diagrammatic representation of one loop contributions to the power spectrum of $\langle g^2 \rangle$. Red (solid) lines indicate propagators of γ , blue (dotted) lines of σ .

Let us analyze the origin of the diagrams in Fig. (1). Although the wavefunction of the field g in the standard $\langle gg \rangle$ power spectrum receives contribution from both γ, σ fields, only the former (massless) field survives in the late-time limit. Inspection of Eq. (2.20) reveals that two vertices corresponding to the same $\gamma\sigma^2$ interaction contribute to diagram (a). Similarly, quartic interactions of the type $\gamma^2\sigma^2$ and $(\gamma\sigma)^2$ in Eq. (A.1) correspond to the vertex in diagram (b). As clear from the cubic and quartic Lagrangians, each interaction relevant to our set-up counts one power of the 'coupling constant' $\tilde{\beta}$. It follows that at one loop the power spectrum is limited to be at most proportional to $\tilde{\beta}^2$ and, as we shall see, the bispectrum to be at most proportional to $\tilde{\beta}^3$. Since at a given perturbative order the maximum number of bispectrum vertices exceeds those in the two-point function, it is always possible to ensure that the three-point function is *parametrically* different from the power spectrum: this will play a key role in our model departure from standard consistency relations, see *Section 4*. We estimate below the size of the 1-loop contributions to the tensor power spectrum:

$$\mathcal{P}^{(a)one-loop} \propto \frac{\left(m^2 M^2 \tilde{\beta}\right)^2}{M_p^4 M_f^4} = \mathcal{P}^{tree} \left[\frac{m^2 \tilde{\beta}}{M_f^2 + M_p^2}\right] \left(\tilde{\beta} \frac{m^2}{H^2}\right), \qquad (3.12)$$

$$\mathcal{P}^{(b1)one-loop} \propto \frac{m^2 M^2 \tilde{\beta} H^2}{\left(M_p^2 + M_f^2\right)^3} = \mathcal{P}^{tree} \frac{m^2 M_p^2 M_f^2 \tilde{\beta}}{\left(M_p^2 + M_f^2\right)^3}, \qquad (3.13)$$

$$\mathcal{P}^{(b2)one-loop} \propto \frac{m^2 M^2 \tilde{\beta} H^2}{\left(M_p^2 + M_f^2\right) M_f^2 M_p^2} = \mathcal{P}^{\text{tree}} \frac{m^2 \tilde{\beta}}{M_{\text{max}}^2}, \qquad (3.14)$$

where $M_{\text{max}} \equiv \max\{M_f, M_g\}$, and we make use of the definition in Eq. (2.4).

In the previous expressions we wrote, as representative examples, the contribution corresponding to the C_9 term of the quartic Lagrangian (see Appendix A) in Eq. (3.13), and the contribution corresponding to terms such as C_6 and C_7 in Eq. (3.14). The term in $\mathcal{P}^{(b2)one-loop}$ has been computed in the limit⁸ in which either $M_f \gg M_g$ or $M_g \gg M_f$. Upon recalling that, as a consequence of Eq. (2.23), the combination $m^2 \tilde{\beta}$ is in the neighborhood of H^2 , the three expressions above can be

⁸Notice that instead $\mathcal{P}^{(b2)} \sim \mathcal{P}^{(b1)}$ for $M_f \sim M_g$.

interpreted as the results of a tree level contribution times a typical $\sim H^2/M_{p,f}^2$ loop suppression⁹.

Before moving on to the bispectrum calculation, we pause here to comment on the scale dependence of the power spectrum. In General Relativity (GR) an exact scale-invariance is a consequence of de Sitter symmetries. Since our set-up has a richer dynamics than GR, and given that massive tensors are known to be characterised by a blue spectrum, one might wonder what to expect for the index $n_{\rm T}$. The extra scale-dependence of a massive external field occurs by means of an extra (w.r.t. to their massless counterpart) dependence on powers of k/(aH) at late times. However, in our case as well as e.g. quasi-single field inflation (in the scalar sector), the massive fields are not external but rather part of internal legs of Feynman diagrams, and their k/(aH) behaviour is integrated over with the leading contribution typically coming from the domain corresponding to the horizon region. As a result, one does not expect an additional scaling from internal massive lines. See also [35] for a discussion on this point.

3.2 Bispectrum

The main ingredients for the calculation of the 1-loop three-point function are essentially the same as for the power spectrum. The bispectrum \mathcal{B} is defined as

$$\langle g_{\vec{k}_1} g_{\vec{k}_2} g_{\vec{k}_3} \rangle = (2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(\vec{k}_1 + \vec{k}_2 + \vec{k}_3) \mathcal{B}(k_1, k_2, k_3).$$
(3.15)

Here too, in order to probe the extra dynamics and in the absence of new purely-massless interactions in the cubic (quartic) Lagrangian, the presence of massive spin-2 fields forces us to consider the one-loop order. Let us begin by evaluating the amplitude corresponding to diagrams (c) and (d) in Fig. (2).



Figure 2. Diagrammatic representation of one loop contribution to the bispectrum $\langle g^3 \rangle$. Red (solid) lines indicate propagators of γ , blue (dotted) lines of σ .

By employing the in-in formalism, we schematically find (see *Appendix* C for details):

$$\mathcal{B}^{(c)}(k_1, k_2, k_3) \propto \gamma(k_1, 0) \gamma(k_2, 0) \gamma(k_3, 0) \left(m^2 M^2 \tilde{\beta}\right)^3 \\ \times \int d^3 q \int d\tau_1 \, a^4(\tau_1) \gamma(k_1, \tau_1) \sigma(q, \tau_1) \sigma(|\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{q}|, \tau_1) \\ \times \int d\tau_2 \, a^4(\tau_2) \gamma(k_2, \tau_2) \sigma(q, \tau_2) \sigma(|\mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{q}|, \tau_2)$$

⁹Phrased differently, this corresponds to $(P_{\text{tree}} - P_{1-\text{loop}})/P_{\text{tree}} \sim 1 - \mathcal{O}(\tilde{\beta}) \times H^2/M_{p,f}^2$.

$$\times \int d\tau_3 a^4(\tau_3) \gamma(k_3, \tau_3) \sigma(|\mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{q}|, \tau_3) \sigma(|\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{q}|, \tau_3), \qquad (3.16)$$

$$\mathcal{B}^{(d)}(k_{1},k_{2},k_{3}) \propto \gamma(k_{1},0)\gamma(k_{2},0)\gamma(k_{3},0) \left(m^{2}M^{2}\tilde{\beta}\right)^{2} \\ \times \int d^{3}q \int d\tau_{1} a^{4}(\tau_{1})\gamma(k_{1},\tau_{1})\sigma(q,\tau_{1})\sigma(|\mathbf{k}_{1}-\mathbf{q}|,\tau_{1}) \\ \times \int d\tau_{2} a^{4}(\tau_{2})\gamma(k_{2},\tau_{2})\gamma(k_{3},\tau_{2})\sigma(q,\tau_{2})\sigma(|\mathbf{k}_{1}-\mathbf{q}|,\tau_{2}).$$
(3.17)

The overall amplitudes of the bispectrum contributions are parameterized as:

$$\mathcal{B}^{(c)} \propto \frac{\left(m^2 M^2 \tilde{\beta}\right)^3}{M_p^6 M_f^6} f_{\mathcal{B}_c}(\tilde{\nu}), \qquad (3.18)$$

$$\mathcal{B}^{(d1)} \propto \frac{\left(m^2 M^2 \tilde{\beta}\right)^2 H^2}{\left(M_p^2 + M_f^2\right)^3 M_p^2 M_f^2} f_{\mathcal{B}_{d1}}(\tilde{\nu}), \qquad (3.19)$$

$$\mathcal{B}^{(d2)} \propto \frac{m^4 H^2 \tilde{\beta}^2}{M_{\text{max}}^6} f_{\mathcal{B}_{d2}}(\tilde{\nu}) , \qquad (3.20)$$

where again, diagram (d1) arises from the contribution proportional to C_9 in the quartic Lagrangian and diagram (d2) is due to terms such as C_6 and C_7 , with $M_{\text{max}} \equiv \max\{M_f, M_g\}$. Notice that, although we are able to extract almost all the dependence on the theory parameters from the integrals, there remains an irreducible dependence $f_{\mathcal{B}}(\tilde{\nu})$ which cannot be factored out but follows from numerical integration. The value of the $|f_{\mathcal{B}}(\tilde{\nu})|$ contribution it typically $\mathcal{O}(10)$ [15, 36] and, naturally, a similar $f_{\mathcal{P}}(\tilde{\nu})$ functional dependence is present also in the 1-loop power spectrum computation. The fact that $f_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{P}}(\tilde{\nu})$, as well as their ratio, are functions of $\tilde{\nu}$ and not directly of $\tilde{\beta}$ will be particularly important in Section 4.

We should also address the momentum dependence of the bispectrum. Standard tree level contributions of massless scalar (tensor) fields can interpolate between the local configuration ($\mathcal{B} \sim 1/(k_1^3k_2^3)$) and the equilateral profile (with a maximum for $k_{1,2,3} \sim 1$). One typically moves from the local to the equilateral shape as the interactions considered contain an increasing number of derivatives acting on the fields [26, 37–41]. For massless fields, non-derivative interactions such as the ones we consider here, peak in the local configuration. In our set-up we are instead dealing with a contribution from massive fields running in the loop. As mentioned above, the effect of massive particles at tree level is a $(k_{\rm L}/k_{\rm S})^{3/2-\tilde{\nu}/2}$ factor in front of what would otherwise be a purely local shape [15, 18]. We therefore expect a similar mildening of the local shape in our case.

3.2.1 Tensor non-Gaussianities

Let us turn to providing an estimate of the various contributions to the simplest tensor non-Gaussianities, the bispectrum. We will, as ever, focus on the non-derivative contributions as we are after the effect of an extra massive spin-2 field during inflation. We estimate the size of the tensor bispectrum by means of the dimensionless parameter f_{nl} defined as the ratio between the

three-point function and the tensor two-point correlator squared¹⁰:

$$f_{\rm nl}^{(c)} \propto \frac{\mathcal{B}^{(c)}}{\mathcal{P}^2} \propto \frac{\left(m^2 M^2 \tilde{\beta}\right)^3 (M_f^2 + M_p^2)^2}{H^4 M_f^6 M_p^6} = \frac{m^6 \, \tilde{\beta}^3}{H^4 \left(M_f^2 + M_p^2\right)},\tag{3.21}$$

$$f_{\rm nl}^{(d1)} \propto \frac{\mathcal{B}^{(d_1)}}{\mathcal{P}^2} \propto \frac{\left(m^2 M^2 \tilde{\beta}\right)^2}{\left(M_p^2 + M_f^2\right) H^2 M_p^2 M_f^2} = \frac{m^4 \,\tilde{\beta}^2 \, M_p^2 M_f^2}{H^2 \left(M_f^2 + M_p^2\right)^3},\tag{3.22}$$

where we have used Eq. (2.4). Now, for the purposes of providing an overall consistent estimate of the bispectrum amplitude, we remind the reader of Eq (2.23): such inequalities limit the bispectrum contributions to being respectively of order

$$f_{\rm nl}^{(c)} \lesssim 10^3 \times \frac{H^2}{M^2}; \qquad f_{\rm nl}^{(d)} \lesssim 10^2 \times \frac{H^2}{M^2};$$
(3.23)

where in providing both estimates we have taken $\tilde{\beta} \sim \mathcal{O}(10)$ and used M^2 as a placeholder for the "Planck" masses $M_{f,p}$ and combinations thereof. The significance of Eq. (3.23) is intuitively clear: a loop-suppression is slightly lessened by the possibility¹¹ of an order $\mathcal{O}(10)$ value for $\tilde{\beta}$. As we shall see in *Section* 4, the bispectrum and in particular its squeezed limit are an ideal probe of the presence of extra-fields during inflation. The soft three-point function carries information on the mass, the spin and the coupling of any additional inflationary particle content [5, 10]. As one goes up the spin ladder, bounds such as the Higuchi inequality, essentially enforcing $m_{\text{extra}} \sim H$, are unavoidable. One would be tempted to conclude then that these extra fields will naturally be short-lived and their impact can only be an integrated-over time effect. This is precisely what we find in our set-up. On the other hand, it worth pointing out at this stage that a proven way to prolong the *direct* effect of massive fields is to non-minimally couple them to massless degrees of freedom. This coupling is familiar, for example, from vector inflation models where, massive, otherwise-decaying vector modes are lifted by direct coupling to the inflaton [42].

We have specifically chosen in this work to focus on the simplest, non-linearly consistent theory of a (necessarily massive) extra spin-2 field, sure in the knowledge that ours is a ghost-free model. We leave the exploration of a related model with non-minimal coupling to future work [43].

4 Tensor Consistency Relation

4.1 The standard case

Before specializing to our case, let us report here the standard tensor consistency relation (CR) [44, 45]:

$$\mathcal{B}(q, k, k)_{q \to 0} \sim \left(-\frac{3}{8} + \frac{1}{8} \frac{d \ln \mathcal{P}_{\gamma}}{d \ln k}\right) P_{\gamma}(k) P_{\gamma}(q) ; \qquad (4.1)$$

¹⁰Naturally, when it comes to the power spectrum we consider the leading tree-level contribution.

¹¹Notice that we are allowed to scan such values for the dimensionless coupling $\tilde{\beta}$ because we can trust the validity of the ghost-free theory all the way to scales where non-linearities are as important as the linear theory.

As we have done throughout the text, we restrict our considerations to the non-derivative contributions to the 1-loop bispectrum and 1-loop power spectrum. Consistency of perturbation theory dictates that we consider the diagrams in Fig. (3), that is we compare the 1-loop bispectrum with a product of the tree level and 1-loop two-point function.



Figure 3. Diagrammatic representation of LHS and RHS of what would be, should the equality sign hold, the consistency relation for the squeezed limit of the bispectrum including non-derivative interactions.

For convenience, we reproduce here the results in Eq (3.19) of the previous section, the amplitude of the one-loop contributions to the bispectrum:

$$\mathcal{B}^{(c)} \sim \left(\frac{m^2 \tilde{\beta}}{M_f^2 + M_p^2}\right)^3 f_{\mathcal{B}_{(c)}}(\tilde{\nu}) \mathcal{B}^{(d1)} \sim \frac{H^2 M_f^2 M_p^2 m^4 \tilde{\beta}^2}{\left(M_f^2 + M_p^2\right)^5} f_{\mathcal{B}_{(d1)}}(\tilde{\nu}) , \qquad (4.2)$$

where one need not specify the form of the f functions, but we do underscore their $\tilde{\nu}$ dependence. In order to probe the consistency relation, the squeezed limit of the bispectrum ought be compared with the power spectrum. We stress here that it is not the purely-tree-level bispectrum nor, correspondingly, the purely-tree-level power spectrum we are after: both observables are insensitive to the presence of new interactions mediated by massive modes and will therefore be connected by the standard CR. In order to capture departures from standard tensor CRs, one ought to compare the (squeezed) one-loop bispectrum to one loop contributions to the squared power spectrum:

$$\mathcal{P}^{\text{tree}} \times \mathcal{P}^{(a)1-\text{loop}} = \frac{\left(H \, m^2 \, \tilde{\beta}\right)^2}{\left(M_p^2 + M_f^2\right)^3} \, f_{\mathcal{P}_{(a)}}(\tilde{\nu}) \,,$$
$$\mathcal{P}^{\text{tree}} \times \mathcal{P}^{(b1)1-\text{loop}} = \frac{H^2 \, m^2 \, M_f^2 \, M_p^2 \, \tilde{\beta}}{\left(M_p^2 + M_f^2\right)^5} f_{\mathcal{P}_{(b)}}(\tilde{\nu}) \,. \tag{4.3}$$

Comparing the results of Eqs. (4.2)-(4.3), one realizes that the consistency relation in Eq. (4.1) does not hold in general, since the overall dependence on the parameter $\tilde{\beta}$ is different in the two cases: up to $\tilde{\beta}^3$ for the bispectrum, but only up to $\tilde{\beta}^2$ for the power spectrum. It is important to note that the functions $f_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{P}}$ cannot make up for the "missing" $\tilde{\beta}$ power: we know by inspection that $\tilde{\nu}$ is not a linear (or polynomial) function of simply the $\tilde{\beta}$ variable and therefore a ratio of different *f*-functions cannot restore the consistency relation.

In our set-up then, the standard consistency relation does not hold. This should not come as a surprise in a multi-field model; after all, it is a very well-known result that a large $f_{\rm nl}^{\rm loc.}$ would be, if detected, a smoking gun for multi(scalar)-field inflation. One might well argue that in multi-field models the extra scalar is light, $m \ll H$, whilst in our case the extra field is massive. There is however a scalar correspondent for precisely our case, namely quasi-single-field inflation, where for the extra field σ one has $m_{\sigma} \sim H$. Consistency relations are indeed modified in QsF as well. We find it worthwhile to provide, alongside the "brute force" proof of modified consistency relation just above, a general presentation on the conditions that grant CR modification/violation and place our result in a wider context. We do so in Section 4.2, 4.3 and point out similarities and subtle differences with respect to the QsF case along the way.

4.2 General Perspective on Consistency Relations

In what follows we will cast the modifications/violations of consistency relations found in our setup in a wider context and then briefly draw a parallel with the case of CRs in QsF inflation. Consistency relations stem from a residual gauge symmetry in a physical system description¹². Let us describe (along the lines of [46]) the action of one such gauge transformation "a" on a specific field as the action of the charge Q_a associated to the transformation. We have

$$\delta_a \gamma = i[Q_a, \gamma] = \underbrace{(\dots) \gamma}_{\text{linear}} + \underbrace{(\dots)}_{\text{non-linear}}, \qquad (4.4)$$

where, for the sake of generality, we do not yet specify the form of the transformation. It suffices here to stress that, upon acting on the field γ , the transformation may generate a linear and also a non-linear component in the field and it is the latter that will be crucial for CRs. The action of the transformation "a" on the power spectrum built out of gamma fields will be, schematically,

$$\delta_a \cdot \langle \gamma \gamma \rangle \propto \langle \gamma \rangle_{\bullet 0} + \text{Diff} \cdot \langle \gamma \gamma \rangle \tag{4.5}$$

where the first term on the RHS vanishes¹³ and we have indicated a generic differential operator (see Eq.(4.10) for a specific example) as *Diff*. The second term in Eq. (4.5) is the result of the linear component of the gauge transformation on γ . Let us set aside the result of the gauge transformation acting on P_{γ} as obtained in the RHS of Eq. (4.5) and re-write the action of "a" as:

$$\delta_a \cdot \langle \gamma \gamma \rangle = i[\langle Q_a, \gamma \gamma \rangle] \propto \sum_n \langle Q_a | n \rangle \langle n | \gamma \gamma \rangle, \tag{4.6}$$

where we have inserted the identity operator $\mathbb{1} = |1_{\gamma}\rangle\langle 1_{\gamma}| + \sum_{n\geq 2} |n\rangle\langle n|$. Note that we have explicitly singled out the state $|1_{\gamma}\rangle \equiv |\gamma\rangle$ to underline that the right hand side of Eq. (4.6) has at

 $^{^{12}}$ It is sufficient for symmetries to be in place at the level of the equations of motion, such as is often the case in large scale structure [47, 48].

¹³Note that for generic n-point functions the result of the non-linear transformation on the observable \mathcal{O}_{γ} does not vanish, rather it results in non-connected diagrams [49] which do not play a role in the CRs we are interested in.

least one non-trivial contribution. Putting together Eqs.(4.5, 4.6), one finds that

Diff
$$\cdot \langle \gamma \gamma \rangle \propto \langle Q_a | \gamma \rangle \langle \gamma | \gamma \gamma \rangle + \sum_{n \ge 2} \langle Q_a | n \rangle \langle n | \gamma \gamma \rangle$$
 (4.7)

Switching to Fourier space, and using the invariance of the vacuum under the linear component of the transformation "a", one finds that the gauge transformation obeys $\langle Q_a | \gamma_q \rangle \propto (2\pi)^3 \delta(\mathbf{q})$, and using the overall momentum conservation:

Diff
$$\cdot \langle \gamma_{\mathbf{k}} \gamma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle \propto c_{\text{number}} \langle \gamma_{\mathbf{q} \to \mathbf{0}} | \gamma_{\mathbf{k}} \gamma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle + \sum_{n \ge 2} \langle Q_a | n \rangle \langle n_{\mathbf{q} \to \mathbf{0}} | \gamma_{\mathbf{k}} \gamma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle .$$
 (4.8)

If the field γ is the only one transforming non-linearly under Q_a , each term of the sum over $n \geq 2$ on the right hand side vanishes and the reader will recognize in Eq.(4.8) the standard form of the consistency relation between the squeezed (soft) limit of the three-point function (RHS) and the variation of the two-point function (LHS) of the corresponding two hard modes. Crucially, whenever (i) there exist at least one additional field¹⁴ with a non-linear component under the symmetry, the second term in the RHS of Eq.(4.8) can be non-zero and reveal a modified consistency relation. By inspection of Eq.(4.8), it is clear that one must then also require that $\langle n_{\mathbf{q}\to\mathbf{0}}|\gamma_{\mathbf{k}}\gamma_{-\mathbf{k}}\rangle \neq 0$. However, this is not yet satisfactory: it ought also be the case that (ii) such expression is non-trivial, in the sense that:

$$\langle n_{\mathbf{q}\to\mathbf{0}} | \gamma_{\mathbf{k}} \gamma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle \neq c_{\text{number}} \times \langle n_{\mathbf{q}\to\mathbf{0}} | \gamma_{\mathbf{q}\to\mathbf{0}} \rangle \times \langle \gamma_{\mathbf{q}\to\mathbf{0}} | \gamma_{\mathbf{k}} \gamma_{-\mathbf{k}} \rangle , \qquad (4.9)$$

something that would amount to a trivial redefinition of the standard consistency relation. The immediate, observational, consequence of a modified CR is that the squeezed limit of a specific three-point function can no longer be absorbed by a gauge transformation: it is only a specific linear combination¹⁵ of at least two three-point functions that corresponds to a gauge artifact.

The power of the perspective we have just outlined on CR is best illustrated in the set-up of quasi-single-field inflation, see [46]. We shall refer the reader to existing literature on QsF, with the exception of providing here the specific example of the gauge transformation acting on the scalar field ζ in the case of QsF:

$$[Q_d, \zeta] \sim -1 - x \cdot \partial_x \zeta . \tag{4.10}$$

The transformation "d" at the heart of the scalar CRs, is the dilatation symmetry (see the work in [46]), and the associated charge is Q_d . It is straightforward to prove that the orthogonalized component of the extra massive scalar field in QsF, σ^{\perp} , has both (i) a non-linear transformation under dilatation and (ii) non-trivial (self-)interactions guaranteeing the condition in Eq.(4.9) is satisfied. Does the same apply to our set-up? We address this next.

¹⁴All fields $|n\rangle$ need to be suitably orthogonalized given that they have been introduced as defining the identity operator.

¹⁵Strictly speaking, consistency relations are typically true only at leading order in powers of q/k. A more precise statement is that standard CRs, when in place, make the leading contribution to the squeezed bispectrum a gauge artifact.

4.3 Extra massive spin-2 field during inflation

The first condition we have outlined for a CR modification is the existence of two fields non-linearly transforming under the symmetry generating the consistency relation. In the case of tensors, it is a well-known result that the gauge transformation in question is anisotropic rescaling [50]. The fluctuations of tensor fields in the $(f_{\mu\nu}, g_{\mu\nu})$ basis do transform also non-linearly,

$$\delta \gamma_{g \,\mu\nu} = a^{-2} \left(\xi^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} g^{(0)}_{\mu\nu} + g^{(0)}_{\alpha\nu} \partial_{\mu} \xi^{\alpha} + g^{(0)}_{\mu\alpha} \partial_{\nu} \xi^{\alpha} \right) ,$$

$$\delta \gamma_{f \,\mu\nu} = b^{-2} \left(\xi^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} f^{(0)}_{\mu\nu} + f^{(0)}_{\alpha\nu} \partial_{\mu} \xi^{\alpha} + f^{(0)}_{\mu\alpha} \partial_{\nu} \xi^{\alpha} \right) ,$$
(4.11)

and so do their traceless transverse components. Note that ξ^{α} is the parameter of the most general gauge transformation and a, b the scale factors for the metrics $g_{\mu\nu}, f_{\mu\nu}$ respectively. Since we are after the CR involving the soft limit of $\langle \gamma_g \gamma_g \gamma_g \rangle$, the next step is to require that there exist γ_f -mediated interaction(s) that contribute to the bispectrum through a diagram that cannot be written as the RHS of Eq.(4.9) upon identifying $|n\rangle \equiv |\gamma_f^{\perp}\rangle$ and $|\gamma\rangle \equiv |\gamma_g\rangle$. The existence of the cubic and quartic γ_f self-interactions detailed in *Section* 2 suggests that this is indeed the case.

All ingredients seem to be in place for us to be able to declare a modification of tensor consistency relations in our set-up. There is, however, one more piece to the puzzle with respect to the QsF case: there, a functionally independent σ cubic self-interaction $V'''(\sigma)$ guarantees that the contribution on the LHS of Eq.(4.9), when mediated by $V'''(\sigma)$, cannot be obtained by means of ζ - σ interactions and ζ self-interactions. In our case things are not as straightforward given that all tensor (mixed and self-)interactions share a similar dependence on the theory parameters m^2 , β_n s. It is then necessary to resort to the more detailed calculation presented in Section 4, where we have provided a proof that the CR is indeed modified parametrically.

Another line of reasoning that arrives at the same conclusion goes as follows. Consistency relations during inflation stems from the theory being invariant under space diffs [51]. It is well-known that a massive graviton necessarily breaks such diffs and this is a sufficient condition for CRs breaking. One may always restore diff invariance by introducing extra-fields¹⁶ through the Stueckelberg "trick" [52]. However, this process makes the extra degrees of freedom (due to the diff breaking) manifest and these will nevertheless eventually modify CRs.

4.4 Quadrupolar tensor anisotropy

An inflationary correlation between a long-wavelength (K) and two short-wavelength $(k_1 \approx k_2 \approx k)$ modes induces a modulation of the power spectrum by the long-wavelength fluctuation. If the longwavelength mode is a tensor perturbation, the induced modulation is of a quadrupolar type, as it has been shown for density fluctuations [53–55] (see also [56]):

$$P_{\zeta}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{x}) = P_{\zeta}(k) \left[1 + \mathcal{Q}_{ij}(\mathbf{x}) \hat{k}_i \hat{k}_j \right], \qquad (4.12)$$

where $P_{\zeta}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{x}) \equiv \int d^3 \mathbf{x}' e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}'} \langle \zeta(\mathbf{x})\zeta(\mathbf{x} + \mathbf{x}') \rangle_{\gamma}$ is the power spectrum for small-scale modes in a region (causal patch) centered in \mathbf{x} , in the presence of a fixed γ . Eq. (4.12) is valid to leading order

¹⁶But these are precisely the fields that will transform non-linearly!

in (K/k).¹⁷ In Eq. (4.12) we defined

$$\mathcal{Q}_{ij}(\mathbf{x}) \equiv \sum_{\lambda} \int_{L^{-1}} \frac{d^3 K}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{K}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \frac{\mathcal{B}^{\lambda}_{\gamma\zeta\zeta}(\mathbf{K},\mathbf{k},-\mathbf{K}-\mathbf{k})}{P_{\gamma}(K)P_{\zeta}(k)} \gamma^{\lambda}(\mathbf{K})\epsilon^{\lambda}_{ij}(\mathbf{K}), \qquad (4.13)$$

with $\lim_{K \ll k_1 \approx k_2} \langle \gamma_{\mathbf{K}}^{\lambda} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_1} \zeta_{\mathbf{k}_2} \rangle \simeq -(2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{K} + \mathbf{k}_1 + \mathbf{k}_2) \mathcal{B}_{\gamma\zeta\zeta}^{\lambda}(\mathbf{K}, \mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2) \epsilon_{ij}^{\lambda}(\mathbf{K}) \hat{k}_{2i} \hat{k}_{3j}$ and L^{-1} indicating an infrared cutoff. We note here that the bispectrum in Eq. (4.13) is to be understood as the directly observable one, that is, the leading part of the squeezed bispectrum that cannot be removed by a gauge transformation. This is automatically the case whenever the contributions under study violate the consistency relation.

The result in Eq. (4.12) readily generalizes to tensor perturbations: the local power spectrum for tensor modes in the presence of a fixed long-wavelength tensor perturbation is given by

$$P_{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{x}) = P_{\gamma}(k) \left[1 + \mathcal{Q}_{ij}(\mathbf{x}) \hat{k}_i \hat{k}_j \right] , \qquad (4.14)$$

where now

$$\mathcal{Q}_{ij}(\mathbf{x}) \equiv \sum_{\lambda} \int_{L^{-1}} \frac{d^3 K}{(2\pi)^3} e^{i\mathbf{K}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \frac{\mathcal{B}^{\lambda}_{\gamma\gamma\gamma}(\mathbf{K}, \mathbf{k}, -\mathbf{K} - \mathbf{k})}{P_{\gamma}(K)P_{\gamma}(k)} \gamma^{\lambda}(\mathbf{K})\epsilon^{\lambda}_{ij}(\mathbf{K}), \qquad (4.15)$$

and $\lim_{K\ll k_1\approx k_2}\langle \gamma_{\mathbf{K}}^{\lambda}\gamma_{\mathbf{k}_1}\gamma_{\mathbf{k}_2}\rangle \simeq -(2\pi)^3 \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{K}+\mathbf{k}_1+\mathbf{k}_2)\mathcal{B}_{\gamma\gamma\gamma}^{\lambda}(\mathbf{K},\mathbf{k}_1,\mathbf{k}_2)\epsilon_{ij}^{\lambda}(\mathbf{K})\hat{k}_{2i}\hat{k}_{3j}.$

The quadrupolar modulation can be expanded in spherical harmonics as

$$P_{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{x}) = P_{\gamma}(k) \left[1 + \sum_{m=-2}^{+2} \mathcal{Q}_{2m}(\mathbf{x}) Y_{2m}(\hat{k}) \right], \qquad (4.16)$$

from which one derives the following expression for the quadrupole moments [54]

$$Q_{2m}(\mathbf{x}) = \frac{\int d^2 \hat{k} P_{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{x}) Y_{2m}^*(\hat{k})}{\int d^2 \hat{k} P_{\gamma}(\mathbf{k}, \mathbf{x}) Y_{00}^*(\hat{k})}.$$
(4.17)

The root-mean-square of the quadrupole moments is what one can constrain observationally:

$$\overline{\mathcal{Q}^2} \equiv \left\langle \sum_{m=-2}^{+2} |\mathcal{Q}_{2m}|^2 \right\rangle.$$
(4.18)

For $\mathcal{B}_{\gamma\gamma\gamma}(K,k,|\mathbf{K}-\mathbf{k}|)/(P_{\gamma}(K)P_{\gamma}(k)) = f_{\gamma\gamma\gamma}$, where $f_{\gamma\gamma\gamma}$ is a constant, one finds for example

$$\overline{\mathcal{Q}^2} \propto \int \frac{d^3 K}{(2\pi)^3} f_{\gamma\gamma\gamma}^2 P_{\gamma}(K) \,. \tag{4.19}$$

¹⁷These and the following results apply under the assumption that $|\mathbf{x}'| \ll 1/K$ (or, in other words, of a long-wavelength mode longer than the size of the local patch), and with the triangular inequality, $\mathbf{K} = -\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{k}_2$, in place.

The magnitude of the quadrupolar anisotropy in the scalar power spectrum has been constrained to $\leq 10^{-2}$ from CMB [57] and large scale structure [58] observations. Similarly, statistical anisotropies in the tensor power spectrum may be constrained with with upcoming observations of CMB polarization anisotropies and with interferometers.

5 Conclusions

Inflationary dynamics takes place at energies that can be as high as 10^{14} GeV. This simple fact makes invaluable any observable carrying imprints of such an era: there is no comparable window on such high energy processes at our disposal. In this context, late-time cosmological correlation functions are the closest thing one can find to observables we are familiar with from earthbound colliders. Much as what happens for colliders, one may ask how to spot the presence of extra¹⁸ physics (particles) during inflation. The ideal probe of new dynamics is the squeezed (soft) limit of the bispectrum (three-point function) as it carries information on the mass, the spin and (somewhat less directly) the coupling of the extra fields. There is a vast literature on multi-field inflation, typically focused on the extra, effectively massless, scalar field [59].

Things are no less interesting when considering vectors, tensors and higher spin fields, given that in such cases the bispectrum acquires a non-trivial angular dependence and the power spectrum itself receives anisotropic contributions. The intriguing extra angular dependence for spin ≥ 1 fields is mitigated by that fact that, starting with tensor modes and their "Higuchi" bound, the allowed mass range comes with a lower limit of order H. The immediate consequence is that these modes are not long-lived and their effect is an integrated-over-time one. A case in point is our study on adding a spin-2 particle to the minimal inflationary content.

Whenever the extra ingredient is a tensor mode, one can take full advantage of the fact that, for interacting spin-2 fields, a ghost-free theory exists at the fully non-linear level. We have studied such model in the inflationary context, showing how tensor consistency relations are modified in this set-up and clarifying the observational consequences that ensue. The tensor bispectrum is naturally sensitive to the presence of an extra mode which we show can also induce a quadrupolar anisotropy in the power spectrum.

A proven way to further enhance the effects of the extra (massive) degrees of freedom is to enforce non-minimal coupling to existing long-lived massless field(s). The well-studied $\phi F\tilde{F}$ mixing, coupling the inflaton to gauge fields [42], is just one such example. A natural extension of the work presented here consists in exploring the non-minimal couplings that would make the new massive modes even more impactful on cosmological observables. In doing so one has to exert special care so as to preserve the delicate ghost-free structure of multi-metric interactions [60]. It is also of interest to study how the presence of massive tensor modes reflects in particular on the shape of non-Gaussianities in scenarios with large tensor bispectra. We leave these directions to future work [43].

Acknowledgments

ED is supported in part by DOE grant DE-SC0009946. ED would like to thank the Perimeter Institute for Theoretical Physics (Canada) for hospitality and support whilst this work was in progress.

¹⁸Gravity as described by GR and a minimally coupled scalar field are assumed as the minimal scenario.

MRF acknowledges support by STFC grant ST/N000668/1. GT is partially supported by the STFC grant ST/P00055X/1. The authors are grateful to the organizers of the workshop "Understanding cosmological observations" at the Centro de Ciencias de Benasque "Pedro Pascual", where this work was initiated. MRF thanks K. Koyama and D. Wands for illuminating conversations.

A Quartic Lagrangian expansion

The quartic Lagrangian in the (γ, σ) basis reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{4} = -\frac{m^{2}M^{2}\beta}{128} \Big(\mathcal{C}_{1} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\sigma^{4} \right] + \mathcal{C}_{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\gamma^{3}\sigma \right] + \mathcal{C}_{3} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\gamma\sigma^{3} \right] + \mathcal{C}_{4} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\gamma^{2} \right] \operatorname{Tr} \left[\gamma\sigma \right] + \mathcal{C}_{5} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\sigma^{2} \right] \operatorname{Tr} \left[\gamma\sigma \right] + \mathcal{C}_{6} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\gamma^{2}\sigma^{2} \right] + \mathcal{C}_{7} \operatorname{Tr} \left[(\gamma\sigma)^{2} \right] + \mathcal{C}_{8} \left(\operatorname{Tr} \left[\gamma\sigma \right] \right)^{2} + \mathcal{C}_{9} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\gamma^{2} \right] \operatorname{Tr} \left[\sigma^{2} \right] \Big)$$
(A.1)

where

$$C_{1} \equiv \frac{3M_{f}^{4} - 2M_{f}^{2}M_{p}^{2} + 3M_{p}^{4}}{M_{f}^{4}M_{p}^{4}}, \qquad C_{2} \equiv \frac{32\left(M_{f}^{2} - M_{p}^{2}\right)}{M_{f}M_{p}\left(M_{f}^{2} + M_{p}^{2}\right)^{2}}, \qquad (A.2)$$

$$C_{3} \equiv \frac{8\left(M_{f}^{2} - M_{p}^{2}\right)^{3}}{M_{f}^{3}M_{p}^{3}\left(M_{f}^{2} + M_{p}^{2}\right)^{2}}, \qquad C_{4} \equiv -\frac{16\left(M_{f}^{2} - M_{p}^{2}\right)}{M_{f}M_{p}\left(M_{f}^{2} + M_{p}^{2}\right)^{2}} = -C_{5}, \qquad C_{6} \equiv \frac{2\left(11M_{f}^{4} - 10M_{f}^{2}M_{p}^{2} + 11M_{p}^{4}\right)}{M_{f}^{2}M_{p}^{2}\left(M_{f}^{2} + M_{p}^{2}\right)^{2}}, \qquad C_{7} \equiv \frac{2\left(M_{f}^{4} - 14M_{f}^{2}M_{p}^{2} + M_{p}^{4}\right)}{M_{f}^{2}M_{p}^{2}\left(M_{f}^{2} + M_{p}^{2}\right)^{2}}, \qquad C_{8} \equiv -\frac{8\left(M_{f}^{2} - M_{p}^{2}\right)^{2}}{M_{f}^{2}M_{p}^{2}\left(M_{f}^{2} + M_{p}^{2}\right)^{2}}, \qquad C_{9} \equiv \frac{16}{\left(M_{f}^{2} + M_{p}^{2}\right)^{2}}.$$

B Polarization tensors

The direction of wave momentum \hat{k} in polar basis is

$$\hat{k} = (\sin\theta\cos\phi, \sin\theta\sin\phi, \cos\theta) . \tag{B.1}$$

We introduce vectors orthogonal to \hat{k} and to one another

$$\hat{u} = (\sin \phi, -\cos \phi, 0) , \qquad \hat{v} = \hat{k} \times \hat{u}, \qquad (B.2)$$

hence

$$e_{ab}^{(+)} = \frac{\hat{u}_a \hat{u}_b - \hat{v}_a \hat{v}_b}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad e_{ab}^{(\times)} = \frac{\hat{u}_a \hat{v}_b + \hat{v}_a \hat{u}_b}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (B.3)

We have assumed that $e_{ab}^{(\times)}$ is even and $e_{ab}^{(+)}$ is odd under parity. R/L polarisations are defined as

$$e^{R} = \frac{e^{(+)} + i e^{(\times)}}{\sqrt{2}}, \qquad e^{L} = \frac{e^{(+)} - i e^{(\times)}}{\sqrt{2}}.$$
 (B.4)

C Details of in in calculation

We present here the details of the diagrams calculation. The expectation value of a generic operator Θ at time t is given by

$$\langle \Theta(t) \rangle = \left\langle 0 \left| \left[\bar{T} \exp\left(i \int_{t_0}^t dt' H_I(t') \right) \right] \Theta_I(t) \left[T \exp\left(-i \int_{t_0}^t dt'' H_I(t'') \right) \right] \left| 0 \right\rangle, \quad (C.1)$$

where H_I is the interaction Hamiltonian, \overline{T} and T are, respectively, anti-time ordering and timeordering operators (see e.g. [61–63]). The expression above can be unpacked by expanding the exponentials to the desired order, depending on the number of vertices present in the diagram one needs to compute: the number of vertices in a diagram corresponds to the total number of time integrals. Let us begin with the diagram in Fig. 2c. In this case we need three vertices, so the overall order (from \overline{T} and T combined) of the expansion for the exponentials will be three, which is given by the sum of four contributions:

$$\langle \Theta(t) \rangle_{3v} = (0,3) + (3,0) + (1,2) + (2,1),$$
 (C.2)

where

$$\begin{aligned} (0,3) &\equiv \left\langle 0 \left| \left[\bar{T} \left(\mathbb{1} \right) \right] \Theta_{I}(t) \left[\frac{(-i)^{3}}{3!} 3! T \left(\int_{t_{0}}^{t} dt_{1} H_{I}(t_{1}) \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} dt_{2} H_{I}(t_{2}) \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{2}} dt_{3} H_{I}(t_{3}) \right) \right] \left| 0 \right\rangle , \\ (3,0) &\equiv \left\langle 0 \left| \left[\frac{(i)^{3}}{3!} 3! \bar{T} \left(\int_{t_{0}}^{t} dt_{1} H_{I}(t_{1}) \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} dt_{2} H_{I}(t_{2}) \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{2}} dt_{3} H_{I}(t_{3}) \right) \right] \Theta_{I}(t) \left[T \left(\mathbb{1} \right) \right] \left| 0 \right\rangle , \\ (1,2) &\equiv \left\langle 0 \right| \left[i \bar{T} \left(\int_{t_{0}}^{t} dt_{1} H_{I}(t_{1}) \right) \right] \Theta_{I}(t) \left[\frac{(-i)^{2}}{2!} 2! T \left(\int_{t_{0}}^{t} dt_{1} H_{I}(t_{1}) \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} dt_{2} H_{I}(t_{2}) \right) \right] \left| 0 \right\rangle , \\ (2,1) &\equiv \left\langle 0 \right| \left[\frac{(i)^{2}}{2!} 2! \bar{T} \left(\int_{t_{0}}^{t} dt_{1} H_{I}(t_{1}) \int_{t_{0}}^{t_{1}} dt_{2} H_{I}(t_{2}) \right) \right] \Theta_{I}(t) \left[-i T \left(\int_{t_{0}}^{t} dt_{1} H_{I}(t_{1}) \right) \right] \left| 0 \right\rangle , \end{aligned}$$

and $\mathbb{1}$ is the unit operator. Expanding the contributions (0,3), (3,0), (1,2), (2,1), one finds: (0,3) = (3,0)* and $(1,2) = (2,1)^*$ (fields to the left in a contraction are not starred, fields to the right are starred). One then obtains

$$\langle \Theta(t) \rangle_{3v} = -2 \operatorname{Im} \left[\int_{t_0}^{t} dt_1 \int_{t_0}^{t_1} dt_2 \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_3 \left\langle \Theta_{\mathrm{I}}(t) \mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{I}}(t_1) \mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{I}}(t_2) \mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{I}}(t_3) \right\rangle \right]$$
(C.3)

+ 2 Im
$$\left[\int_{t_0}^{t} dt_1 \int_{t_0}^{t} dt_2 \int_{t_0}^{t_2} dt_3 \langle H_I(t_1)\Theta_I(t)H_I(t_2)H_I(t_3)\rangle\right],$$
 (C.4)

where "Im" stands for the imaginary part. The equation above applies to any diagram with three vertices.

With the same procedure, the corresponding expression for a diagram with one and two vertices can be derived: these are useful for the computation of the power spectra in Fig. 1 as well as for the computation of the bispectrum contribution in Fig. 2d. We write below the final results

$$\langle \Theta(t) \rangle_{2v} = -2 \operatorname{Re} \left[\left\langle \Theta(t) \int_{t_0}^t dt_1 \int_{t_0}^{t_1} dt_2 H_I(t_1) H_I(t_2) \right\rangle \right] + \left[\left\langle \int_{t_0}^t dt_1 H_I(t_1) \Theta_I(t) \int_{t_0}^t dt_2 H_I(t_2) \right\rangle \right],$$
 (C.5)

$$\langle \Theta(t) \rangle_{1v} = 2 \operatorname{Im} \left[\Theta_{\mathrm{I}}(t) \int_{t_0}^t \mathrm{d}t_1 \mathrm{H}_{\mathrm{I}}(t_1) \rangle \right].$$
 (C.6)

For the bispectrum, the operator is given by

$$\Theta = \gamma_{\mathbf{k}_1}^{s_1}(\tau \to 0)\gamma_{\mathbf{k}_2}^{s_2}(\tau \to 0)\gamma_{\mathbf{k}_3}^{s_3}(\tau \to 0), \qquad (C.7)$$

where s_i are the polarization indices of the three gravitons.

The contribution to the interaction Hamiltonian determining the diagram of Fig. 2c is

$$H_I(\tau) \supset \alpha \int d^3x \, a^4(\tau) \gamma_{ij}(\mathbf{x},\tau) \sigma_{jl}(\mathbf{x},\tau) \sigma_{li}(\mathbf{x},\tau) \,, \qquad (C.8)$$

where $\alpha \sim m^2 \tilde{\beta}$. The expansion of the fields in Fourier space reads

$$\gamma_{ij}(\mathbf{x},\tau) = \int \frac{d^3k}{(2\pi)^3} e^{-i\mathbf{k}\cdot\mathbf{x}} \gamma_{ij,\mathbf{k}}(\tau) , \qquad (C.9)$$

with

$$\gamma_{ij,\mathbf{k}}(\tau) = \sum_{\lambda} \epsilon_{ij}^{\lambda}(\hat{k})\gamma_{\mathbf{k}}(\tau) \equiv \sum_{\lambda} \epsilon_{ij}^{\lambda}(\hat{k}) \left[a_{\mathbf{k}}^{\lambda}\gamma_{k}(\tau) + a_{-\mathbf{k}}^{\lambda\dagger}\gamma_{k}^{*}(\tau) \right], \qquad (C.10)$$

and commutation relations $\left[a_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}^{\lambda_{1}}, a_{-\mathbf{k}_{2}}^{\lambda_{2}\dagger}\right] = (2\pi)^{3} \delta_{\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}} \delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2})$. Similar relations hold for the σ field. The quantity inside $\langle \rangle$ brackets on the right-hand-side of Eq. (C.3) becomes (for one of the permutations)

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha^{3}\gamma_{\mathbf{k}_{1}}^{s_{1}}(0)\,\gamma_{\mathbf{k}_{2}}^{s_{2}}(0)\,\gamma_{\mathbf{k}_{3}}^{s_{3}}(0) \\ &\times \int^{0} d\tau_{1}\,d^{3}x_{1}\,a^{4}(\tau_{1})\int \frac{d^{3}w_{1}}{(2\pi)^{3}}\frac{d^{3}q_{1}}{(2\pi)^{3}}\frac{d^{3}p_{1}}{(2\pi)^{3}}e^{-i\mathbf{x}_{1}\cdot(\mathbf{w}_{1}+\mathbf{q}_{1}+\mathbf{p}_{1})}\gamma_{i_{1}j_{1}\,\mathbf{w}_{1}}(\tau_{1})\,\sigma_{j_{1}l_{1}\,\mathbf{q}_{1}}(\tau_{1})\,\sigma_{l_{1}i_{1}\,\mathbf{p}_{1}}(\tau_{1}) \\ &\times \int^{\tau_{1}} d\tau_{2}\,d^{3}x_{2}\,a^{4}(\tau_{2})\int \frac{d^{3}w_{2}}{(2\pi)^{3}}\frac{d^{3}q_{2}}{(2\pi)^{3}}\frac{d^{3}p_{2}}{(2\pi)^{3}}e^{-i\mathbf{x}_{2}\cdot(\mathbf{w}_{2}+\mathbf{q}_{2}+\mathbf{p}_{2})}\gamma_{i_{2}j_{2}\,\mathbf{w}_{2}}(\tau_{2})\,\sigma_{j_{2}l_{2}\,\mathbf{q}_{2}}(\tau_{2})\,\sigma_{l_{2}i_{2}\,\mathbf{p}_{2}}(\tau_{2}) \\ &\times \int^{\tau_{2}} d\tau_{3}\,d^{3}x_{3}\,a^{4}(\tau_{3})\int \frac{d^{3}w_{3}}{(2\pi)^{3}}\frac{d^{3}q_{3}}{(2\pi)^{3}}\frac{d^{3}p_{3}}{(2\pi)^{3}}e^{-i\mathbf{x}_{3}\cdot(\mathbf{w}_{3}+\mathbf{q}_{3}+\mathbf{p}_{3})}\gamma_{i_{3}j_{3}\,\mathbf{w}_{3}}(\tau_{3})\,\sigma_{j_{3}l_{3}\,\mathbf{q}_{3}}(\tau_{3})\,\sigma_{l_{3}i_{3}\,\mathbf{p}_{3}}(\tau_{3})\,. \end{aligned}$$

$$(C.11)$$

The expectation value of (C.11) gives

$$\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2} + \mathbf{k}_{3})\alpha^{3}\gamma_{k_{1}}(0)\gamma_{k_{2}}(0)\gamma_{k_{3}}(0)\epsilon_{i_{1}j_{1}}^{s_{1}}(-\hat{k}_{1})\epsilon_{i_{2}j_{2}}^{s_{2}}(-\hat{k}_{2})\epsilon_{i_{3}j_{3}}^{s_{3}}(-\hat{k}_{3})\int d^{3}q_{1}$$

$$\times \int^{0}_{0} d\tau_{1} a^{4}(\tau_{1}) \int^{\tau_{1}} d\tau_{2} a^{4}(\tau_{2}) \int^{\tau_{2}}_{0} d\tau_{3} a^{4}(\tau_{3}) \sum_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2},\lambda_{3}} \epsilon_{j_{1}l_{1}}^{\lambda_{1}}(\hat{q}_{1})\epsilon_{j_{2}l_{2}}^{\lambda_{1}}(-\hat{q}_{1})\epsilon_{l_{1}i_{1}}^{\lambda_{2}}(\hat{p}_{1})\epsilon_{l_{3}i_{3}}^{\lambda_{2}}(-\hat{p}_{1})$$

$$\times \epsilon_{l_{2}i_{2}}^{\lambda_{3}}(\hat{p}_{2})\epsilon_{j_{3}l_{3}}^{\lambda_{3}}(-\hat{p}_{2})\gamma_{k_{1}}^{*}(\tau_{1})\sigma_{q_{1}}(\tau_{1})\sigma_{p_{1}}(\tau_{1})\gamma_{k_{2}}^{*}(\tau_{2})\sigma_{q_{1}}^{*}(\tau_{2})\sigma_{p_{2}}(\tau_{2})\gamma_{k_{3}}^{*}(\tau_{3})\sigma_{p_{1}}^{*}(\tau_{3})\sigma_{p_{2}}^{*}(\tau_{3})$$

+47 permutations,

(C.12)

where $p_1 \equiv |\mathbf{p}_1| = |\mathbf{k}_1 - \mathbf{q}_1|$ and $p_2 \equiv |\mathbf{p}_2| = |\mathbf{k}_2 + \mathbf{q}_1|$. The structure of the integrals is similar to the one reported in Eq. (3.16).

The result for the contribution in Eq. (C.4) can be derived in the same manner

$$\delta^{(3)}(\mathbf{k}_{1} + \mathbf{k}_{2} + \mathbf{k}_{3})\alpha^{3}\gamma_{k_{1}}^{*}(0)\gamma_{k_{2}}(0)\gamma_{k_{3}}(0)\epsilon_{i_{1}j_{1}}^{s_{1}}(-\hat{k}_{1})\epsilon_{i_{2}j_{2}}^{s_{2}}(-\hat{k}_{2})\epsilon_{i_{3}j_{3}}^{s_{3}}(-\hat{k}_{3})\int d^{3}q_{1}$$

$$\times \int^{0}_{0} d\tau_{1} a^{4}(\tau_{1}) \int^{0}_{0} d\tau_{2} a^{4}(\tau_{2}) \int^{\tau_{2}}_{\tau_{2}} d\tau_{3} a^{4}(\tau_{3}) \sum_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2},\lambda_{3}} \epsilon_{j_{1}l_{1}}^{\lambda_{1}}(\hat{q}_{1})\epsilon_{j_{2}l_{2}}^{\lambda_{1}}(-\hat{q}_{1})\epsilon_{l_{1}i_{1}}^{\lambda_{2}}(\hat{p}_{1})\epsilon_{l_{3}i_{3}}^{\lambda_{2}}(-\hat{p}_{1})$$

$$\times \epsilon_{l_{2}i_{2}}^{\lambda_{3}}(\hat{p}_{2})\epsilon_{j_{3}l_{3}}^{\lambda_{3}}(-\hat{p}_{2})\gamma_{k_{1}}(\tau_{1})\sigma_{q_{1}}(\tau_{1})\sigma_{p_{1}}(\tau_{1})\gamma_{k_{2}}^{*}(\tau_{2})\sigma_{q_{1}}^{*}(\tau_{2})\sigma_{p_{2}}(\tau_{2})\gamma_{k_{3}}^{*}(\tau_{3})\sigma_{p_{1}}^{*}(\tau_{3})\sigma_{p_{2}}^{*}(\tau_{3})$$

$$+ 47 \text{ permutations .} \qquad (C.13)$$

References

- [1] M. Kamionkowski and E. D. Kovetz, Ann. Rev. Astron. Astrophys. 54 (2016) 227 [arXiv:1510.06042];
- M. C. Guzzetti, N. Bartolo, M. Liguori and S. Matarrese, Riv. Nuovo Cim. 39, no. 9, 399 (2016)
 [arXiv:1605.01615];
- [3] C. Caprini and D. G. Figueroa, [arXiv:1801.04268];
- [4] N. Bartolo et al., JCAP 1612 (2016) no.12, 026 [arXiv:1610.06481];
- [5] N. Arkani-Hamed and J. Maldacena, [arXiv:1503.08043];
- [6] J. L. Cook and L. Sorbo, JCAP 1311 (2013) 047 [arXiv:1307.7077]; J. L. Cook and L. Sorbo, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 023534 Erratum: [Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 069901] [arXiv:1109.0022]; M. M. Anber and L. Sorbo, Phys. Rev. D 85 (2012) 123537 [arXiv:1203.5849]; N. Barnaby and M. Peloso, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106 (2011) 181301 [arXiv:1011.1500]; N. Barnaby, J. Moxon, R. Namba, M. Peloso, G. Shiu and P. Zhou, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 103508 [arXiv:1206.6117]; D. Carney, W. Fischler, E. D. Kovetz, D. Lorshbough and S. Paban, JHEP 1211 (2012) 042 [arXiv:1209.3848]; M. Biagetti, M. Fasiello and A. Riotto, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 103518 [arXiv:1305.7241]; L. Senatore, E. Silverstein and M. Zaldarriaga, JCAP 1408 (2014) 016 [arXiv:1109.0542]; A. Maleknejad and M. M. Sheikh-Jabbari, Phys. Lett. B 723 (2013) 224 [arXiv:1102.1513]; E. Dimastrogiovanni, M. Fasiello and A. J. Tolley, JCAP 1302, 046 (2013) [arXiv:1211.1396]; E. Dimastrogiovanni and M. Peloso, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013) no.10, 103501 [arXiv:1212.5184]; P. Adshead, E. Martinec and

M. Wyman, JHEP 1309 (2013) 087 [arXiv:1305.2930]; P. Adshead, E. Martinec and M. Wyman, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) no.2, 021302 [arXiv:1301.2598]; R. Namba, E. Dimastrogiovanni and M. Peloso, JCAP 1311, 045 (2013) [arXiv:1308.1366]; A. Maleknejad, JHEP 1607 (2016) 104 [arXiv:1604.03327]; R. Flauger, M. Mirbabayi, L. Senatore and E. Silverstein, JCAP 1710 (2017) no.10, 058 [arXiv:1606.00513]; E. Dimastrogiovanni, M. Fasiello and T. Fujita, JCAP 1701 (2017) no.01, 019 [arXiv:1608.04216]; R. Namba, M. Peloso, M. Shiraishi, L. Sorbo and C. Unal, JCAP 1601 (2016) no.01, 041 [arXiv:1509.07521]; M. Peloso, L. Sorbo and C. Unal, JCAP 1609 (2016) no.09, 001 [arXiv:1606.00459]; A. Agrawal, T. Fujita and E. Komatsu, [arXiv:1707.03023]; D. Baumann, G. Goon, H. Lee and G. L. Pimentel, JHEP 1804 (2018) 140 [arXiv:1712.06624]; G. Franciolini, A. Kehagias and A. Riotto, JCAP 1802 (2018) no.02, 023 [arXiv:1712.06626]; T. Fujita, I. Obata, T. Tanaka and S. Yokoyama, [arXiv:1801.02778]; A. Agrawal, T. Fujita and E. Komatsu, [arXiv:1802.09284]; K. D. Lozanov, A. Maleknejad and E. Komatsu, [arXiv:1805.09318];

- [7] S. Endlich, A. Nicolis and J. Wang, JCAP 1310 (2013) 011 [arXiv:1210.0569]; D. Cannone,
 G. Tasinato and D. Wands, JCAP 1501 (2015) no.01, 029 [arXiv:1409.6568]; C. Lin and L. Z. Labun,
 JHEP 1603 (2016) 128 [arXiv:1501.07160]; N. Bartolo, D. Cannone, A. Ricciardone and G. Tasinato,
 JCAP 1603 (2016) no.03, 044 [arXiv:1511.07414]; A. Ricciardone and G. Tasinato, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017) no.2, 023508 [arXiv:1611.04516]; G. Domnech, T. Hiramatsu, C. Lin, M. Sasaki, M. Shiraishi
 and Y. Wang, JCAP 1705 (2017) no.05, 034 [arXiv:1701.05554]; A. Ricciardone and G. Tasinato,
 JCAP 1802 (2018) no.02, 011 [arXiv:1711.02635];
- [8] T. Takahashi and J. Soda, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 231301 [arXiv:0904.0554]; T. Zhu, W. Zhao, Y. Huang, A. Wang and Q. Wu, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 063508 [arXiv:1305.0600]; Y. Huang, A. Wang, R. Yousefi and T. Zhu, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) no.2, 023523 [arXiv:1304.1556];
- [9] P. Creminelli and M. Zaldarriaga, JCAP 0410, 006 (2004) [arXiv:0407059]
- [10] D. Jeong and M. Kamionkowski, Phys. Rev. Lett. **108**, 251301 (2012) [arXiv:1203.0302]
- [11] C. de Rham and G. Gabadadze, Phys. Rev. D 82, 044020 (2010) [arXiv:1007.0443]
- [12] C. de Rham, G. Gabadadze and A. J. Tolley, Phys. Rev. Lett. 106, 231101 (2011) [arXiv:1011.1232]
- [13] S. F. Hassan and R. A. Rosen, JHEP 1202, 126 (2012) [arXiv:1109.3515]
- [14] X. Chen and Y. Wang, Phys. Rev. D 81, 063511 (2010) [arXiv:0909.0496]
- [15] X. Chen and Y. Wang, JCAP **1004**, 027 (2010) [arXiv:0911.3380]
- [16] A. Kehagias and A. Riotto, JCAP **1707**, no. 07, 046 (2017) [arXiv:1705.05834];
- [17] N. Bartolo, A. Kehagias, M. Liguori, A. Riotto, M. Shiraishi and V. Tansella, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) no.2, 023503 [arXiv:1709.05695];
- [18] H. Lee, D. Baumann and G. L. Pimentel, JHEP **1612** (2016) 040 [arXiv:1607.03735];
- [19] C. de Rham, Living Rev. Rel. 17, 7 (2014) [arXiv:1401.4173];
- [20] M. Lagos and P. G. Ferreira, JCAP 1412, 026 (2014) [arXiv:1410.0207]
- [21] M. Johnson and A. Terrana, Phys. Rev. D 92, no. 4, 044001 (2015) [arXiv:1503.05560]
- [22] G. Cusin, R. Durrer, P. Guarato and M. Motta, JCAP 1509, no. 09, 043 (2015) [arXiv:1505.01091]
- [23] M. Biagetti, E. Dimastrogiovanni and M. Fasiello, JCAP 1710, no. 10, 038 (2017) [arXiv:1708.01587]
- [24] E. Babichev, L. Marzola, M. Raidal, A. Schmidt-May, F. Urban, H. Veerme and M. von Strauss, JCAP 1609, no. 09, 016 (2016) [arXiv:1607.03497];
- [25] E. Babichev and C. Deffayet, Class. Quant. Grav. 30, 184001 (2013) [arXiv:1304.7240];

- [26] X. Chen, Adv. Astron. **2010** (2010) 638979 [arXiv:1002.1416];
- [27] P. D. Meerburg, J. Meyers, A. van Engelen and Y. Ali-Haimoud, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 123511
 [arXiv:1603.02243]; F. Finelli *et al.* [CORE Collaboration], JCAP 1804 (2018) 016 [arXiv:1612.08270];
 B. Thorne, T. Fujita, M. Hazumi, N. Katayama, E. Komatsu and M. Shiraishi, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) no.4, 043506 [arXiv:1707.03240];
- [28] C. de Rham, A. Matas and A. J. Tolley, Class. Quant. Grav. **31** (2014) 165004 [arXiv:1311.6485];
- [29] N. Boulanger, T. Damour, L. Gualtieri and M. Henneaux, Nucl. Phys. B 597 (2001) 127 [arXiv:0007220];
- [30] E. P. Wigner, Annals Math. 40, 149 (1939) [Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 6, 9 (1989)].
- [31] S. Deser and A. Waldron, Phys. Lett. B 508, 347 (2001) [hep-th/0103255]
- [32] M. Fasiello and A. J. Tolley, JCAP **1211**, 035 (2012) [arXiv:1206.3852]
- [33] M. Fasiello and A. J. Tolley, JCAP 1312, 002 (2013) [arXiv:1308.1647]
- [34] A. Higuchi, Nucl. Phys. B **282**, 397 (1987).
- [35] S. Weinberg, Phys. Rev. D 74, 023508 (2006) [arXiv:0605244]
- [36] E. Dimastrogiovanni, M. Fasiello and M. Kamionkowski, JCAP 1602 (2016) 017 [arXiv:1504.05993];
- [37] D. Babich, P. Creminelli and M. Zaldarriaga, JCAP 0408, 009 (2004) [arXiv:0405356]
- [38] C. Cheung, P. Creminelli, A. L. Fitzpatrick, J. Kaplan and L. Senatore, JHEP 0803, 014 (2008) [arXiv:0709.0293]
- [39] N. Bartolo, M. Fasiello, S. Matarrese and A. Riotto, JCAP **1008**, 008 (2010) [arXiv:1004.0893]
- [40] A. Lewis, JCAP **1110**, 026 (2011) [arXiv:1107.5431];
- [41] M. Fasiello and S. Renaux-Petel, JCAP 1410, no. 10, 037 (2014) [arXiv:1407.7280];
- [42] L. Sorbo, JCAP **1106**, 003 (2011) [arXiv:1101.1525]
- [43] E. Dimastrogiovanni, M. Fasiello and G. Tasinato, in preparation.
- [44] J. M. Maldacena, JHEP 0305, 013 (2003) [arXiv:0210603]
- [45] V. Sreenath and L. Sriramkumar, JCAP 1410 (2014) no.10, 021 [arXiv:1406.1609]
- [46] V. Assassi, D. Baumann and D. Green, JCAP **1211**, 047 (2012) [arXiv:1204.4207]
- [47] A. Kehagias and A. Riotto, Nucl. Phys. B 873, 514 (2013) [arXiv:1302.0130];
- [48] M. Peloso and M. Pietroni, JCAP 1305, 031 (2013) [arXiv:1302.0223];
- [49] B. Horn, L. Hui and X. Xiao, JCAP 1409, no. 09, 044 (2014) [arXiv:1406.0842]
- [50] K. Hinterbichler, L. Hui and J. Khoury, JCAP 1401, 039 (2014) [arXiv:1304.5527];
- [51] L. Berezhiani and J. Khoury, JCAP 1402, 003 (2014) [arXiv:1309.4461];
- [52] N. Arkani-Hamed, H. Georgi and M. D. Schwartz, Annals Phys. 305, 96 (2003) [arXiv:0210184];
- [53] S. Brahma, E. Nelson and S. Shandera, Phys. Rev. D 89, no. 2, 023507 (2014) [arXiv:1310.0471];
- [54] L. Dai, D. Jeong and M. Kamionkowski, Phys. Rev. D 88, no. 4, 043507 (2013) [arXiv:1306.3985];
- [55] E. Dimastrogiovanni, M. Fasiello, D. Jeong and M. Kamionkowski, JCAP 1412, 050 (2014) [arXiv:1407.8204];
- [56] S. B. Giddings and M. S. Sloth, JCAP 1101, 023 (2011) [arXiv:1005.1056]; M. Gerstenlauer,

A. Hebecker and G. Tasinato, JCAP 1106 (2011) 021 [arXiv:1102.0560];

- [57] A. R. Pullen and M. Kamionkowski, Phys. Rev. D 76, 103529 (2007) [arXiv:0709.1144]; D. Hanson and A. Lewis, Phys. Rev. D 80, 063004 (2009) [arXiv:0908.0963]; N. E. Groeneboom and H. K. Eriksen, Astrophys. J. 690, 1807 (2009) [arXiv:0807.2242]; C. L. Bennett et al., Astrophys. J. Suppl. 192, 17 (2011) [arXiv:1001.4758]; P. A. R. Ade et al. [Planck Collaboration], Astron. Astrophys. 571, A23 (2014) [arXiv:1303.5083]; J. Kim and E. Komatsu, Phys. Rev. D 88, 101301 (2013) [arXiv:1310.1605];
- [58] S. Ando and M. Kamionkowski, Phys. Rev. Lett. 100, 071301 (2008) [arXiv:0711.0779]; A. R. Pullen and C. M. Hirata, JCAP 1005, 027 (2010) [arXiv:1003.0673];
- [59] D. Wands, Lect. Notes Phys. **738**, 275 (2008) [arXiv:0702187];
- [60] K. Hinterbichler and R. A. Rosen, JHEP 1207, 047 (2012) [arXiv:1203.5783];
- [61] S. Weinberg, Phys. Rev. D 72, 043514 (2005) [arXiv:0506236];
- [62] P. Adshead, R. Easther and E. A. Lim, Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 083521 [arXiv:0904.4207];
- [63] X. Chen, Y. Wang and Z. Z. Xianyu, JHEP 1608 (2016) 051 [arXiv:1604.07841];